

# **BY-LAWS OF THE BOARD**

OCI N.V.



# CONTENTS

Clause		Page
Introdu	uction	3
Chapte	er I Composition Board; Profile	3
1.	Composition	3
Chapter II Duties and Powers; Allocation of Duties4		
2. 3.	Board Collective Responsibility and Division of Tasks	
3. 4.	Non-Executive Directors	
5. 6.	Co-Chair & Senior Independent Director / Vice-Chair Executive Chair	
7.	Chief Executive Officer	
8. 9.	Chief Financial Officer Chief Legal and Human Capital Officer	
10. 11.	Committees Executive Committee	
12.	Company Secretary	
Chapte	er III Responsibilities on Specific Areas	12
13. 14.	Strategy and Risks Internal audit function	
14. 15.	Report of the Board	
16.	Financial Reporting	
17. 18.	Duties regarding Nomination and Assessment of the External Auditor Relation with the Shareholders	
Chapte	er IV Board Meeting; Decision-Making	15
19.	Frequency, Notice, Agenda and Venue of Meeting	
20. 21.	Attendance of and Admittance to Meetings Chair of the Meeting; Minutes	
22.	Decision-making	
Chapte	r V Other Provisions	16
23.	Conflicts of Interests	
24. 25.	Internal Investigation Remuneration of Directors	
26.	Induction Programme, Ongoing Training and Education	
27.	Other Positions	
28. 29.	Holding and Trading Securities	
29. 30.	Miscellaneous	
Annexe	es	22
1. List of definitions		
2. Board resolutions requiring consent		



## INTRODUCTION

These By-Laws are established pursuant to article 16.4 of the Articles of Association and are complementary to the provisions regarding the Board and its members as contained in relevant laws and regulations, and the Articles of Association. The meaning of certain capitalised terms used in these By-Laws is set forth in the List of Definitions attached as **Annex 1**.

## CHAPTER I COMPOSITION BOARD; PROFILE

#### 1. COMPOSITION

- 1.1 The Board consists of one or more Executive Directors and two or more Non-Executive Directors. The total number of Directors, as well as the number of Executive and Non-Executive Directors, shall be determined by the General Meeting, taking into account that the majority of the Directors shall be Non-Executive Directors.
- 1.2 Directors are appointed by the General Meeting either as Executive Director or as Non-Executive Director. The Non-Executive Directors nominate one or more candidates for each vacancy.
- 1.3 The Non-Executive Directors shall:
  - (a) prepare a profile of the size and composition of the Board taking into account the requirements of the Company and its business from time to time (the **Board Profile**);
  - (b) adopt a diversity & inclusion policy for the composition of the Board (the Board **Diversity & Inclusion Policy**); and
  - (c) prepare the rotation schedule for the Board (the **Rotation Schedule**)

Directors are nominated taking into account the Board Profile, the Board Diversity & Inclusion Policy, and the Rotation Schedule.

- 1.4 A nomination to the General Meeting of Shareholders to appoint a Non-Executive Director shall state the reason for the nomination of the candidate, the candidate's age, his or her profession, the number of shares he or she holds in the Company's capital, and the positions he or she holds or has held insofar as these are relevant for the performance of the duties of a Non-Executive Director. Furthermore, the legal entities of whose supervisory boards he or she is a member or on whose board he or she is a non-executive director shall be listed; if those include legal entities which belong to the same group, reference to that group is sufficient.
- 1.5 Executive Directors are appointed for a term of four years ending at the closure of the next annual General Meeting. There is no maximum term of appointment for Executive Directors. Non-Executive Directors are appointed for a maximum term of four years ending at the closure of the annual General Meeting and may then be reappointed once for another maximum term of four years. Following an eight year term, Non-Executive Directors may



subsequently be reappointed again for a maximum period of two years, which appointment may be extended by another maximum period of two year. Each Non-Executive Director can be in office for a maximum term of 12 years. For a reappointment after an eight-year period, reasons must be provided in the report of the Non-Executive Directors which is part of the Report of the Board.

# CHAPTER II DUTIES AND POWERS; ALLOCATION OF DUTIES

# 2. BOARD

- 2.1 The Executive Directors are charged with the day-to-day management of the Company and are responsible for the continuity of the Company and its business. The Executive Directors focus on sustainable long-term value creation for the Company and its business, and take into account the impact the actions of the Company and its business have on people and the environment and to that end weighs the stakeholders interests that are relevant in this context.
- 2.2 Without limiting the scope of Clause 2.1, in addition to the resolutions set out in Clause 18.3 of the Articles of Association the Board may designate further resolutions which require the consenting vote of a majority of the Non-Executive Directors. Annex 2 includes such further resolutions designated by the Board.
- 2.3 The resolutions listed in **Annex 2** (*Board Resolutions Requiring Consent*), as well as such other resolutions as the Board may determine from time to time, can only be taken by the Board with the required majority of Directors being in favour as set out in **Annex 2**, and cannot be attributed to one or more Directors.
- 2.4 The Board shall externally express concurring views with respect to important affairs, matters of principle, and matters of general interest, with due observance of the responsibilities of individual Directors.
- 2.5 The Board is responsible for the corporate governance structure of the Company and compliance with the Dutch Corporate Governance Code. The Board promotes a culture of openness and accountability within the Board.
- 2.6 The Executive Directors are responsible for creating a culture that contributes to sustainable long-term value creation of the Company and its business. To that effect the Executive Directors shall:
  - (a) incorporate and maintain common values for the Company and its business that take into account the Company's strategy and business model, the environment in which the Company operates, as well as the existing culture within the Company and whether it is desirable to change the culture;
  - (b) encourage behaviour that is in keeping with the values, and propagate these values through leading by example; and
  - (c) keep up to date a code of conduct and monitor its effectiveness and compliance with such code, on the part of both itself and of the employees of the Company.



- 2.7 The Executive Directors shall ensure that employees have the possibility of reporting actual or suspected misconduct or irregularities in the Company and its business to an officer designated thereto, without jeopardising their legal position. The Executive Directors inform the Co-Chair without delay on signs of actual or suspected material misconduct or irregularities within the Company and its business.
- 2.8 The Executive Directors shall adopt a diversity & inclusion policy for the Executive Committee (if applicable), the senior management and for the rest of the workforce with the prior approval of the Non-Executive Directors.
- 2.9 The Executive Directors shall draw up a policy on bilateral contacts with shareholders and for effective dialogue with stakeholders and publish this policy on its website.

# 3. COLLECTIVE RESPONSIBILITY AND DIVISION OF TASKS

- 3.1 The division of tasks within the Board is determined (and amended, if necessary) by the Board, subject to the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors. Directors individually or collectively charged with particular managerial tasks are primarily responsible for the risk control and monitoring of such managerial tasks.
- 3.2 Each Director must inform the other Directors in a clear and timely manner about the way in which he or she has used his or her powers and about major developments in the area of his or her responsibilities.
- 3.3 Each Director shall also be entitled to obtain information from other Directors and employees where he or she deems this useful or necessary in relation to the collective responsibility for the management or supervision of the Company.

#### 4. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

- 4.1 The Non-Executive Directors have no day-to-day management responsibility and are charged with the supervision of the Executive Directors and the general course of affairs of the Company and its business. The Executive Directors shall timely provide the Non-Executive Directors with all information necessary for the proper performance of their duties.
- 4.2 The Non-Executive Directors supervise amongst others the following responsibilities of the Executive Directors:
  - (a) the sustainable long-term value creation of the Company and its business and weighing of the interests of stakeholders involved and the principal risks associated with it;
  - (b) the creation of a culture aimed at long-term value creation of the Company and its business;
  - (c) the internal audit function;
  - (d) the effectiveness of the internal risk management and control systems;
  - (e) the integrity and quality of financial and sustainability reporting;



- (f) the information- and communication technology (ICT) systems of the Company and the managing of the risks associated with cyber security;
- (g) the establishment and maintenance of internal procedures which ensure that all relevant information is known to the Board in a timely fashion;
- (h) the risks associated with the remuneration structure for employees of the Company and its business, including the members of the Executive Committee (if any) who are not Executive Directors; and
- (i) the relation with the shareholders of the Company.
- 4.3 The duties of the Non-Executive Directors in relation to the Executive Directors include:
  - (a) the selection, nomination and succession of Executive Directors, the submission of proposals for the remuneration policy for Executive Directors to the General Meeting of Shareholders, the determination of the remuneration (in accordance with the adopted remuneration policy) and the contractual employment conditions of Executive Directors;
  - (b) determination of the number of Executive Directors and the approval (or proposal, where useful) of changes to the division of tasks between the Executive Directors;
  - (c) at least once a year the Non-Executive Directors shall, without the Executive Directors being present, evaluate the functioning of (i) the Board as a whole, (ii) the Executive Directors as a collective, and (iii) the individual Executive Directors, and discuss the conclusions that must be drawn on the basis thereof, such also in light of the succession of the Executive Directors. At least once a year, the Executive Directors shall evaluate their own functioning as a collective and that of the individual Executive Directors; and
  - (d) to address conflict of interest issues between the Company and Executive Directors.
- 4.4 The duties of the Non-Executive Directors in relation to the Non-Executive Directors include:
  - the selection and nomination of Non-Executive Directors and the submission of proposals to the General Meeting of Shareholders for the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors;
  - (b) the determination of the number of Non-Executive Directors, the appointment of a Co-Chair and Vice-Chair, the establishment of Committees and defining their role;
  - (c) the approval of other positions of Non-Executive Directors to the extent required under these By-Laws; and
  - (d) to address conflict of interest issues between the Company and Non-Executive Directors.
- 4.5 At least once a year the Non-Executive Directors shall, without the Executive Directors being present, evaluate their own functioning as a collective, the functioning of the various committees and that of the individual Non-Executive Directors, and discuss the conclusions that must be drawn on the basis thereof. Attention shall be paid to:



- (a) substantive aspects, conduct and culture, the mutual interaction and collaboration and the interaction with the Executive Directors;
- (b) events that occurred in practice from which lessons may be learned; and
- (c) the Board Profile, the composition, competencies and expertise of the Non-Executive Directors as well as the induction, education and training programme.
- 4.6 Other duties of the Non-Executive Directors include:
  - (a) monitoring the operation of the procedure for reporting actual or suspected misconduct or irregularities, appropriate and independent investigations into signs of misconduct or irregularities, and, if misconduct or irregularity has been discovered, an adequate follow-up of any recommendations for remedial actions; in cases where the Board itself is involved, the Non-Executive Directors may initiate their own investigation into any signs of misconduct and irregularities, and coordinate this investigation;
  - (b) the taking of measures for the temporary management of the Company if an Executive Director is absent or prevented from performing his or her duties; and
  - (c) other duties the Non-Executive Directors are charged with under legislation, the Articles of Association, these By-Laws or the terms of reference of a Committee.

## 5. CO-CHAIR & SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR / VICE-CHAIR;

- 5.1 The Board shall appoint one of the independent Non-Executive Directors as Co-Chair & Senior Independent Director (the **Co-Chair)** and shall appoint one of the Non-Executive Directors as Vice-Chair. The Co-Chair shall not be a (former) Executive Director of the Company.
- 5.2 The Vice-Chair shall act as the contact for shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company with respect to concerns which have not been resolved through the normal channels of the Co-Chair, the Executive Chair or the other Executive Directors and will in doing so ensure a balanced approach towards the shareholders' or stakeholders' issues and concerns.
- 5.3 The Co-Chair is primarily responsible for:
  - (a) a balanced composition and proper functioning of the Board and its Committees;
  - (b) preparing an agenda and chairing meetings of the Board;
  - (c) ensuring that the Board functions and, unless it concerns delegated powers, makes decisions in a collective manner;
  - (d) determining whether a proposed resolution should be brought to the Board for a vote;
  - (e) ensuring that resolutions passed are in accordance with the strategy that should lead to the realisation of the objectives of the Company;



- (f) overseeing and ensuring communications between the Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Directors;
- (g) consulting regularly with the Executive Chair and with the other Directors if and when necessary, regarding their respective tasks;
- (h) addressing problems related to the functioning of Directors;
- (i) addressing internal disputes and conflicts of interest concerning individual Directors and the possible resignation of such Directors as a result; and
- (j) such other tasks as assigned to the chair of the Board under the Dutch Corporate Governance Code.
- 5.4 Without prejudice to the generality of Clause 5.3 the Co-Chair sees to it that:
  - (a) Non-Executive Directors, when appointed, follow the induction programme and, as needed, additional education or training programs;
  - (b) there is sufficient time for deliberation and decision-making by the Board; and
  - (c) the functioning of the Directors is assessed at least annually.
- 5.5 The Co-Chair is assisted by the Company Secretary in the matters relating to Clauses 5.3 and 5.4.
- 5.6 The Vice-Chair replaces, and assumes the powers and duties of, the Co-Chair in his or her absence or in other situations in which the Co-Chair is unable to perform his or her duties, such at the discretion of the Board.

# 6. EXECUTIVE CHAIR

- 6.1 The Board appoints one of the Executive Directors as Executive Chair, with the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors.
- 6.2 The Executive Chair is primarily responsible for:
  - (a) providing overall strategic leadership and determining, in consultation with the Co-Chair, the strategy of the group, aimed at creating sustainable long term value for the Company's shareholders and other stakeholders;
  - (b) providing guidance to the CEO and the other Executive Directors; and
  - (c) performing any other related duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board.
- 6.3 The Executive Chair shall update the Co-Chair regularly on the strategy of the Group, and other relevant issues in a manner as agreed between the Executive Chair and the Co-Chair.

## 7. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

7.1 The Board appoints one of the Executive Directors as CEO, with the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors.



- 7.2 The CEO is primarily responsible for:
  - (a) the day-to-day management of the Group;
  - (b) ensuring delivery of the Group's agreed strategy, business plans and financial performance, including (i) profit responsibility of the Group and (ii) managing business performance;
  - (c) leading the business segments and commercial business of the Group;
  - (d) determining, in consultation with the Executive Chair and the Co-Chair, the annual budget of the Company and, following adoption by the Board, the implementation of the annual budget;
  - (e) investor relations, as a joint task with the CFO;
  - (f) determining the responsibilities and reporting lines within the organization;
  - (g) determining which of his or her tasks shall be carried out under his or her responsibility by other Executive Directors (other than the Executive Chair) and/or other persons;
  - (h) in consultation with the Executive Chair, the appointment and dismissal of managers who report to the Executive Directors, as well as determining their remuneration; and
  - (i) performing any other related duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board.
- 7.3 The CEO shall update the Co-Chair regularly on, among other things, material investments, major organisational issues, regulatory developments and other relevant issues in a manner as agreed between the CEO and the Co-Chair.

# 8. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

- 8.1 The Board appoints one of the Executive Directors as CFO, with the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors.
- 8.2 The CFO is primarily responsible for:
  - (a) preparing, communicating and executing the Company's financial strategy;
  - (b) preparing, communicating and executing the Company's business risk and audit strategy;
  - (c) overseeing and ensuring the integrity of the Company's accounts;
  - (d) the functioning of the internal audit function;
  - (e) treasury;
  - (f) investor relations, as a joint task with the CEO;



- (g) the financial, tax, and management accounting reporting of the Company;
- (h) mergers and acquisitions; and
- (i) performing any other related duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board.
- 8.3 The CFO shall take part in meetings of the Audit Committee to discuss, among other things:
  - the integrity of the financial statements of the Company (including but not limited to the choice of accounting policies, application and assessments of the effects of new rules, information about the handling of estimated items in the annual accounts and forecasts);
  - (b) the qualifications, independence, remuneration and non-auditing work of the External Auditor (without prejudice to the responsibilities of the Audit Committee in the area of finance, accounting, and tax);
  - (c) the performance of tasks by the internal audit function and the External Auditor;
  - (d) the financial reporting process;
  - (e) risk management;
  - (f) the system of internal business controls (including but not limited to the effect of internal risk management and control systems);
  - (g) compliance by the Company with the relevant laws and regulations and applicable codes of conduct in the area of finance, accounting and tax;
  - (h) compliance by the Company with recommendations of the External Auditor and the Company's internal audit function;
  - (i) the financing of the Company and finance-related strategies; and
  - (j) the Company's tax policy.
- 8.4 The CFO shall update the Audit Committee quarterly on the financial situation and developments of the Company and its Subsidiaries in a manner as agreed between the chair of the Audit Committee and the CFO.

# 9. CHIEF LEGAL AND HUMAN CAPITAL OFFICER

- 9.1 The Board appoints one of the Executive Directors as CLHCO, with the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors.
- 9.2 The CLHCO is primarily responsible for:
  - (a) developing and executing the human capital strategy in support of the overall strategy and business plan of the Group;
  - (b) compliance with all relevant legislation and regulations, including the internal Group codes;



- (c) preparation and implementation of the governance of the Group, as determined by the Board;
- (d) internal communications and public affairs;
- (e) the global legal function; and
- (f) performing any other related duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board.

# 10. COMMITTEES

- 10.1 The Non-Executive Directors may appoint standing and/or ad hoc Committees from among its members, which are charged with tasks specified by the Non-Executive Directors. The Non-Executive Directors may and shall, in any event, establish an Audit Committee, a Health, Safety and Environment & Sustainability Committee, and a Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The composition of the Audit Committee, the Health, Safety and Environment Committee & Sustainability, and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is determined by the Non-Executive Directors.
- 10.2 The Non-Executive Directors remain collectively responsible for decisions prepared by Committees. A Committee may only exercise such powers as are explicitly attributed to it by the Non-Executive Directors and may never exercise powers beyond those exercisable by the Board as a whole.
- 10.3 The Non-Executive Directors shall establish terms of reference for each standing Committee and may amend these with the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors at any time. The terms of reference shall indicate the role and responsibility of the relevant Committee, its composition, and the manner in which it performs its duties.

#### **11. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE**

- 11.1 If the Executive Directors establish an Executive Committee, the Executive Directors shall:
  - (a) take account of the checks and balances that are part of a one-tier system. This means, among other things, that the Executive Director's expertise and responsibilities are safeguarded and the Non-Executive Directors are informed adequately; and
  - (b) inform the Non-Executive Directors of the remuneration of the members of the Executive Committee who are not Executive Directors.
- 11.2 Additional rules, concerning, but not limited to the working methods and the composition of the Executive Committee, if established, will be included in by-laws of the Executive Committee. Such by-laws are adopted and amended by the Board.

#### **12. COMPANY SECRETARY**

12.1 The Board is assisted by the Company Secretary, who is appointed by the Board with the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors. The Company Secretary may be removed by the Board at any time with the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors.



- 12.2 All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary.
- 12.3 The Company Secretary sees to it that the correct Board procedures are followed and that the statutory obligations and obligations under the Articles of Association are complied with. The Company Secretary shall assist the Co-Chair in the organisation of the affairs of the Board.
- 12.4 The Company Secretary may delegate his or her duties under these By-Laws, or parts thereof, to one (or more) deputy (or deputies) appointed by him or her in consultation with the CEO and the Co-Chair.
- 12.5 If the Company Secretary notes that the interests of the Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Directors diverge, as a result of which it is unclear which interests the Company Secretary should represent, the Company Secretary will discuss this with the Co-Chair.

# CHAPTER III RESPONSIBILITIES ON SPECIFIC AREA'S

## **13.** STRATEGY AND RISKS

- 13.1 The Executive Directors shall develop a view on sustainable long-term value creation by the Company and its business and shall prepare a strategy in line with this. When developing the strategy, attention shall in any event be paid to:
  - (a) the strategy's feasibility and implementation;
  - (b) the business model applied by the Company and the market in which the Company and its business operate;
  - (c) opportunities and risks for the Company;
  - (d) the Company's operational and financial goals and their impact on its future position in relevant markets;
  - (e) the interests of the stakeholders;
  - (f) the impact of the Company and its business in the field of sustainability, including the effects on people and the environment;
  - (g) paying a fair share of tax to the countries in which the company operates; and
  - (h) the impact of new technologies and changing business models.
- 13.2 The Non-Executive Directors shall challenge and help develop proposals on strategy.
- 13.3 The Executive Directors shall identify and analyse the risks associated with the strategy and activities of the Company and its business that should cover in any case the strategic, operational, compliance and reporting risks. They are responsible for establishing the risk appetite, and also the measures that are put in place in order to counter the risks being taken. Based on the risk assessment, the Executive Directors shall design, implement and maintain adequate internal risk management and control systems.



- 13.4 The Executive Directors monitor the design and operation of the internal risk management and control systems and conduct a systematic assessment of the design and operation at least once a year. Attention shall be given to observed weaknesses, instances of misconduct and irregularities, indications from whistle-blowers, lessons learned and findings from the internal audit function and the external auditor. Where necessary, improvements shall be made to the internal risk management and control systems.
- 13.5 The Executive Directors may appoint an Information Security Officer (**ISO**), who is responsible for the development and monitoring of the physical and digital information security policy within the Company.

# 14. INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

- 14.1 The Executive Directors are responsible for the internal audit function. The task of the internal audit function is to assess the design and operation of the internal risk management and control systems. The internal audit function shall have direct access to the Audit Committee and the External Auditor.
- 14.2 The Executive Directors appoint and dismiss the Director Internal Audit & Risk. Both the appointment and the dismissal of the Director Internal Audit & Risk shall be submitted to the Non-Executive Directors for approval, along with the recommendation of the Audit Committee.
- 14.3 The Executive Directors assess annually the way in which the internal audit function fulfils its responsibility, after consultation with the audit committee. An independent third party should assess the performance of the internal audit function at least every five years.
- 14.4 The Board will be asked to approve the audit plan of the internal audit function. The internal audit function will draw up its audit plan involving the Executive Directors, the Audit Committee and the External Auditor.

# 15. **REPORT OF THE BOARD**

- 15.1 The Executive Directors shall ensure that the information required by the relevant laws and regulations is included in the Report of the Board.
- 15.2 The Non-Executive Directors shall draw up a report that forms a part of the Report of the Board, describing their activities during the relevant financial year and containing the specific statements and information required by the relevant laws and regulations.

#### 16. FINANCIAL REPORTING

- 16.1 The Executive Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal procedures which ensure that all major financial information is known to the Executive Directors, so that the timeliness, completeness and accuracy of the external financial reporting are assured. For this purpose the Executive Directors shall ensure that financial information from business divisions and/or Subsidiaries is reported directly to them and that the integrity of that information is not compromised.
- 16.2 The Non-Executive Directors supervise compliance with internal procedures established by the Executive Directors for the preparation and publication of the Report of the Board, the Annual Accounts, the interim figures and ad hoc financial information.



- 16.3 The Audit Committee shall quarterly provide the Board with reports on the Annual Accounts and the interim figures, which will then be discussed at a meeting of the Board. The Annual Accounts and the Report of the Board for the preceding year shall be discussed in a meeting of the Board within four months of such year's end. The interim figures of the Company for the respective period just ended shall be discussed in a meeting of the Board within three months of the end of such period.
- 16.4 The External Auditor shall in any event attend the part of the meeting of the Audit Committee at which the report of the External Auditor with respect to the audit of the Annual Accounts is discussed.
- 16.5 The line of contact between the Board and the External Auditor is in principle through the CFO or the chair of the Audit Committee. The External Auditor shall inform the Executive Directors and the chair of the Audit Committee without delay if, during the performance of his or her duties, he or she discovers or suspect misconduct or irregularities within the Company and its business.
- 16.6 In his or her contact with the External Auditor the CFO discusses at least the draft audit plan before the External Auditor presents it to the Audit Committee. The CFO ensures that the External Auditor receives all information necessary for completing his or her task and will give the External Auditor the opportunity to respond to the information that has been provided.
- 16.7 The Non-Executive Directors see to it that the recommendations made by the External Auditor are considered carefully by the Board. This supervision may be delegated to the Audit Committee.

# 17. DUTIES REGARDING NOMINATION AND ASSESSMENT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR

- 17.1 The CFO reports his or her observations on the functioning of the External Auditor and the fulfilment of his or her duties to the Audit Committee on an annual basis. Subsequently, the Audit Committee shall annually report to the Non-Executive Directors on the functioning of, and the developments in the relationship with, the External Auditor. The Non-Executive Directors give the External Auditor a general idea of the content of the reports relating to the External Auditor's functioning.
- 17.2 The Audit Committee advises the Board on the nomination for the appointment, reappointment, or dismissal of the External Auditor and shall prepare the selection of the External Auditor while giving due consideration to the Board's observations in this respect. The Board shall take the Audit Committee's advice into account when nominating an External Auditor for appointment to the General Meeting of Shareholders. Following such nomination the External Auditor shall be appointed by the General Meeting of Shareholders.
- 17.3 The Audit Committee submits a proposal to the Non-Executive Directors for the external auditor's engagement to audit the financial statements. The Executive Directors play a facilitating role in this process. In formulating the terms of engagement, attention should be paid to the scope of the audit, the materiality to be applied and the remuneration for the audit. The Non-Executive Directors resolve on the engagement.
- 17.4 The main conclusions of the Board regarding the External Auditor's nomination and the outcomes of the External Auditor selection process shall be communicated to the General Meeting of Shareholders. If the Board does not accept the Audit Committee's advice



concerning the External Auditor's appointment, the reasons for this decision must be stated in the proposal to the General Meeting of Shareholders.

## **18. RELATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS**

- 18.1 The Board ensures that the General Meeting of Shareholders is adequately provided with information unless this would be contrary to an overriding interest of the Company. If the Board invokes an overriding interest, it shall state the reasons.
- 18.2 The Directors shall be present at the General Meeting of Shareholders unless they are unable to attend for important reasons. Under certain circumstances, a Director may attend the General Meeting of Shareholders through means of electronic communication.
- 18.3 The Board sees to it that the responsible partner (certifying auditor) of the firm of the External Auditor is present at the General Meeting of Shareholders and that he or she can address the meeting. The External Auditor may be questioned by the General Meeting of Shareholders in relation to his or her report on the fairness of the financial statements.

# CHAPTER IV BOARD MEETINGS; DECISION-MAKING

## 19. FREQUENCY, NOTICE, AGENDA AND VENUE OF MEETING

- 19.1 The Board shall meet as often as deemed necessary for the proper functioning of the Board. The Board shall meet at least four times a year. Meetings shall be scheduled annually as much as possible in advance. The Board shall also meet earlier than scheduled if this is deemed necessary by the Co-Chair, the Executive Chair, the CEO or one-third of the Directors.
- 19.2 Meetings of the Board are in principle called by the Company Secretary, in consultation with the Co-Chair. Save in urgent cases to be determined by the Co-Chair, the agenda for a meeting shall be sent to all Directors well in advance of the meeting. For each item on the agenda an explanation in writing shall be provided, where possible, and/or other related documentation will be attached.
- 19.3 Each Director has the right to request that an item be placed on the agenda for a Board meeting.
- 19.4 Board meetings are generally held at the offices of the Company, but may also take place elsewhere. In addition, meetings of the Board may be held by conference call, video conference or by any other means of communication, provided all participants can communicate with each other simultaneously.

## 20. ATTENDANCE OF AND ADMITTANCE TO MEETINGS

20.1 A Director may be represented at Board meetings by another Director holding a proxy in writing. The existence of such authorisation must be proved satisfactorily to the chair of the meeting.



- 20.2 If a Director is frequently absent from Board meetings he or she shall be called to account for this by the Co-Chair.
- 20.3 The Co-Chair may decide that a meeting shall be held without attendance of the Executive Directors.
- 20.4 The admittance to the meeting of persons other than Directors and the Company Secretary, shall be decided by majority vote of the Directors present and represented at the meeting.

# 21. CHAIR OF THE MEETING; MINUTES

- 21.1 Board meetings are presided over by the Co-Chair or, in his or her absence, the Vice-Chair. If both are absent, one of the other Directors, designated by a majority of votes cast by the Directors present at the meeting, shall preside.
- 21.2 The Company Secretary or any other person designated for such purpose by the chair of the meeting shall draw up minutes of the meeting. The minutes should provide insight in the decision-making process at the meeting. The minutes shall be adopted by the Board during the next meeting.

## 22. DECISION-MAKING

- 22.1 The Directors shall endeavour to achieve that resolutions are, as much as possible, adopted unanimously, and take into account that certain resolutions of the Board are subject to the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors as referred to in **Annex 2**.
- 22.2 Each Director has the right to cast one vote.
- 22.3 Where unanimity cannot be reached and the law, the Articles of Association or these By-Laws do not prescribe a larger majority or consent of the Non-Executive Directors, all resolutions of the Board are adopted by an absolute majority of the votes cast. In the event of a tie, the Co-Chair has the decisive vote. At a meeting, the Board may only pass resolutions if the majority of the Directors then in office are present or represented.
- 22.4 Board resolutions may also be adopted in writing, provided the proposal concerned is submitted to all Directors and none of them objects to this form of adoption. Adoption of resolutions in writing shall be effected by statements in writing from all Directors. A statement from a Director who wishes to abstain from voting on a particular resolution which is to be adopted in writing, or who wishes to vote against, must reflect the fact that he or she does not object to this form of adoption.
- 22.5 Section 22.1 through 22.4 (inclusive) shall apply *mutatis mutandis* to resolutions adopted by one or more Directors on the basis of Section 16.4 of the Articles of Association.

# CHAPTER V OTHER PROVISIONS

#### 23. CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS

23.1 A Director is alert to conflicts of interest and shall in any case not:



- (a) enter into competition with the Company;
- (b) demand or accept (substantial) gifts from the Company for himself or herself or for his or her spouse, registered partner or other life companion, foster child or relative by blood or marriage up to the second degree;
- (c) provide unjustified advantages to third parties to the detriment of the Company; and
- (d) take advantage of business opportunities to which the Company is entitled for himself or herself or for his or her spouse, registered partner or other life companion, foster child or relative by blood or marriage up to the second degree.
- 23.2 A conflict of interest may exist if the Company intends to enter into a transaction with a legal entity:
  - (a) in which a Director personally has a material financial interest, or
  - (b) which has a management board member, a supervisory board member, an executive director or an non-executive director who is related under family law to a Director.
- 23.3 A Director shall without delay report any conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest in a transaction that is of material significance to the Company and/or to the Director concerned, to the Co-Chair and to the other Directors and shall provide all relevant information, including information regarding his or her spouse, registered partner or life companion, foster child or relative by blood or marriage upon the second degree. The Non-Executive Directors shall decide, without the Director concerned being present, whether there is a conflict of interest.
- 23.4 A Director shall not take part in any discussion and decision-making that involves a subject or transaction in relation to which he or she has a (potential) conflict of interest with the Company. If as a result no Board resolutions can be adopted the resolution will nevertheless be adopted by the Board.
- 23.5 A Director who in connection with a (potential) conflict of interests does not exercise the duties and powers that he or she would otherwise have as a Director, will insofar be regarded as a Director who is unable to perform his or her duties (*belet*).
- 23.6 All transactions in which there are (potential) conflicts of interest with Directors shall be agreed on terms that are customary in the market. Decisions to enter into transactions in which there are (potential) conflicts of interest with Directors that are of material significance to the Company and/or the relevant Directors require a Board resolution taken with the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors.

# 24. INTERNAL INVESTIGATION

A Director is at all times obliged to cooperate fully with an investigation set up by the Company into signs of misconduct and irregularities in the Company and its business.



## 25. **REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS**

- 25.1 The Non-Executive Directors shall be responsible for developing the remuneration policy of the Executive Directors following a proposal by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The Non-Executive Directors shall present the remuneration policy to the General Meeting for adoption. The remuneration policy, including severance payment, shall be clear and understandable, shall focus on sustainable long-term value creation for the Company and its business and take into account the internal pay ratios within the business. The remuneration policy shall not encourage Executive Directors to act in their own interest, nor to take risks that are not in line with the strategy formulated and the risk appetite that has been established. The remuneration policy shall be adopted by the General Meeting and implemented by the Non-Executive Directors.
- 25.2 The Non-Executive Directors shall determine the remuneration of the individual Executive Directors following a proposal by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, within the scope of the remuneration policy. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall take note of individual Executive Directors' views with regard to the amount and structure of their own remuneration. The Executive Directors will not participate in the deliberation and decision making process about this subject within the Board.
- 25.3 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall annually on behalf of the Non-Executive Directors prepare a Remuneration Report, in which the Non-Executive Directors render account of the implementation of the remuneration policy in a transparent manner.
- 25.4 The Board shall have the power to adjust the value of a variable remuneration component conditionally awarded to an Executive Director in a particular financial year if payment thereof is unacceptable according to standards of reasonableness and fairness. The Executive Directors will not participate in the deliberation and decision making process about this subject within the Board.
- 25.5 The Board shall have the power to claim back from an Executive Director the variable remuneration component in part or in whole, in so far as payments were made on the basis of inaccurate information about the realisation of targets, or circumstances that such remuneration was made conditional to (*claw back clause*). The Executive Directors will not participate in the deliberation and decision making process about this subject within the Board.
- 25.6 The main features of the contract of an Executive Director with the Company shall, after its conclusion, be published on the Company's website at the latest at the date of the notice convening the General Meeting of Shareholders at which the appointment of the Executive Director concerned shall be proposed.
- 25.7 The remuneration of the Non-Executive Director is determined by the General Meeting of Shareholders. The Non-Executive Directors shall submit clear and understandable proposals on their remuneration to the General Meeting of Shareholders.
- 25.8 The remuneration of a Non-Executive Director may not depend on the results of the Company. A Non-Executive Director shall not be granted any shares and/or rights to shares in the Company's capital by way of remuneration.
- 25.9 Apart from their remuneration, Directors shall be reimbursed for all reasonable costs incurred in connection with their attendance of meetings, the reasonableness of such costs



being assessed by the Company. Any other expenses are only reimbursed, in whole or in part, if incurred with the consent of the Co-Chair or the Company Secretary on his or her behalf.

25.10 The Company and its Subsidiaries do not grant personal loans, guarantees or the like to Directors, save as part of its usual business operations and after approval of the Board with the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors. The relevant Director will not take part in the deliberation and decision-making process within the Board regarding this approval. Loans are not remitted.

## 26. INDUCTION PROGRAMME, ONGOING TRAINING AND EDUCATION

- 26.1 All Non-Executive Directors shall follow a formal induction programme geared to their role that covers general financial, social and legal affairs, financial and sustainability reporting by the Company, any specific aspects unique to the Company and its business activities, the culture and the responsibilities of a Non-Executive Director.
- 26.2 The Non-Executive Directors shall conduct an annual review to identify any aspects with regard to which the Non-Executive Directors require further training or education during their term of office. The Executive Directors shall conduct an annual review to identify any aspects with regard to which the Executive Directors require further training or education during their term of office.
- 26.3 The induction course, training and education shall be facilitated and paid for by the Company.

# 27. OTHER POSITIONS

- 27.1 A Director shall report any other positions he or she may hold to the Non-Executive Directors in advance, and at least annually these other positions will be discussed in a Board meeting. The acceptance of membership of a supervisory board or a position as non-executive director by an Executive Director requires the approval of the Board, taken with the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors.
- 27.2 Executive Directors may not be a member of the supervisory board or non-executive director of more than two large companies and/or large foundations as referred to in Section 2:132a of the Dutch Civil Code. An Executive Director may not concurrently serve as chair of the supervisory board or one tier board of a large company or large foundation. Membership of the supervisory board or one tier board of affiliates of the Company does not count for this purpose.
- 27.3 Non-Executive Directors shall limit the number and nature of their other positions so as to ensure due performance of their duties. A Non-Executive Director will hold no more than five memberships of supervisory boards in large companies and/or large foundations as referred to in Section 2:142a of the Dutch Civil Code, with a chairpersonship counted twice. The previous sentence is mutatis mutandis applicable with regard to positions of non-executive director or chair of a one tier-board.
- 27.4 Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors must inform the Co-Chair and the Company Secretary of their other positions which may be of importance to the Company or the performance of their duties (before accepting such positions). If the Co-Chair determines that there is a risk of a conflict of interest, the matter shall be discussed by the Non-



Executive Directors in accordance with Clause 23. If such conflict concerns the Co-Chair, the Co-Chair will inform the Vice-Chair who then carries out the task of the Co-Chair as referred to in the previous sentence. The Company Secretary shall keep a list of the outside positions concerned of each Non-Executive Director.

## 28. HOLDING AND TRADING SECURITIES

- 28.1 Any shareholding in the Company by Non-Executive Directors is for the purpose of long-term investment.
- 28.2 Any shareholding by Executive Directors is for the purpose of long-term investment. If shares are awarded to an Executive Director, the shares shall be held for at least five years after they are awarded. However, the Company allows an earlier share sale after at least a two year holding period to the extent necessary to settle any related tax liabilities. If share options are being awarded, the options cannot be excercised during the first three years after they are awarded.
- 28.3 Directors are bound to the insider trading code of the Company regarding securities of the Company and other securities referred to in this code.

## 29. CONFIDENTIALITY

No Director shall, during his or her membership of the Board or afterwards, disclose in any way whatsoever to anyone whomsoever any information of a confidential nature regarding the business of the Company and/or companies in which it holds a stake, that came to his or her knowledge in the capacity of his or her work for the Company and which he or she knows or should know to be of a confidential nature, unless required by law. A Director is allowed to disclose the above information to Directors as well as to staff members of the Company and of companies in which the Company holds a stake, who, in view of their activities for the Company and/or companies in which the Company holds a stake, should be informed of the information concerned. A Director shall not in any way whatsoever utilise the information referred to above for his or her personal benefit.

#### 30. MISCELLANEOUS

- 30.1 Acceptance by Directors. Anyone who is appointed as a Director must, upon assuming office, declare in writing to the Company that he or she accepts and agrees to the contents of these By-Laws and pledge to the Company that he or she will comply with the provisions of these By-Laws. These By-laws are also applicable to anyone who is designated as a substitute director for a Director in absence or prevented from acting.
- 30.2 **Occasional Non-Compliance.** The Board may occasionally decide not to comply with these By-Laws, with due observance of applicable laws and regulations and with the prior approval of the Co-Chair.
- 30.3 **Interpretation.** In the event of lack of clarity or difference of opinion on the interpretation of any provision of these By-Laws, the opinion of the Co-Chair shall be decisive.
- 30.4 **Governing Law and Jurisdiction**. These By-Laws are governed by the laws of the Netherlands. The courts of the Netherlands have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising from or in connection with these By-Laws (including any dispute regarding the existence, validity or termination of these By-Laws).



- 30.5 **Complementarity to Dutch Law and Articles of Association.** These By-Laws are complementary to the provisions governing the Board as contained in Dutch law, other applicable Dutch or EU regulations and the Articles of Association. Where these By-Laws are inconsistent with Dutch law, other applicable Dutch or EU regulations or the Articles of Association, the latter shall prevail. Where these By-Laws are consistent with the Articles of Association but inconsistent with Dutch law or other applicable Dutch or EU regulations, the latter shall prevail.
- 30.6 **Partial Invalidity.** If one or more provisions of these By-Laws are or become invalid, this shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions. The Board may, subject to consent of the Co-Chair, replace the invalid provisions by provisions which are valid and the effect of which, given the contents and purpose of these By-Laws is, to the greatest extent possible, similar to that of the invalid provisions.
- 30.7 **Website.** These By-Laws will be published on the Company's website.



#### **ANNEX 1**

## LIST OF DEFINITIONS

In the By-Laws of the Board, the following terms have the following meanings:

**Annual Accounts** means the annual accounts of the Company as referred to in Sections 2:101 and 2:361(1) of the Dutch Civil Code.

Articles of Association means the articles of association of the Company.

Audit Committee means the Committee designated as such in Clause 10 of the By-Laws

**Board** means the board of Directors of the Company.

**Board Profile** has the meaning given to it in Clause 1.3 of these By-Laws.

By-Laws means these by-laws of the Board, including the annexes belonging thereto.

**CEO** means the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

**CFO** means the Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

**CLHCO** means the Chief Legal and Human Capital Officer of the Company.

**Co-Chair** means the Non-Executive chairman of the Board of Directors as referred to in the Company's Articles of Association, Co-Chair and Senior Independent Director of the Company.

**Committee** means each committee of the Board as referred to in Clause 10 of the By-Laws.

**Company** means OCI N.V., and, where appropriate, the subsidiaries and possible other group companies of the Company, whose financial information is incorporated in the consolidated annual accounts of the Company.

**Company Secretary** means the company secretary of the Company.

**Director** means a member of the Board and refers to both an Executive Director and a Non-Executive Director.

Board Diversity & Inclusion Policy has the meaning given to it in Clause 1.3 of these By-Laws.

Executive Chair means the executive chairperson of the Company.

**Executive Committee** means a committee which is closely involved in the decision-making of the Board.

Executive Director means an executive director of the Company.

**External Auditor** means the accounting and auditing firm that, in accordance with Section 2:393 of the Dutch Civil Code, is charged with the audit of the annual accounts of the Company.



**General Meeting or General Meeting of Shareholders** means the general meeting of shareholders of the Company.

Group means the Company and its Group Companies.

**Group Company** has the meaning given to it in Section 2:24b of the Dutch Civil Code.

**Nomination and Remuneration Committee** means the Committee designated as such in Clause 10 of the By-Laws.

Non-Executive Director means a non-executive director of the Company.

Vice-Chair means the vice-chairperson of the Board as referred to in the Company's Articles of Association.

**Remuneration Report** means the remuneration report of the Board regarding the remuneration policy of the Company as drawn up by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

**Report of the Board** means the report of the Board of the Company drawn up by the Board, as referred to in Sections 2:101 and 2:391 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Rotation Schedule has the meaning given to it in Clause 1.3 of these By-Laws.

Shares means shares in the capital of the Company.

**Subsidiary** has the meaning given to it in Section 2:24a of the Dutch Civil Code.



## ANNEX 2

## **BOARD RESOLUTIONS REQUIRING CONSENT**

## PART A

The following resolutions can only be taken by the Board with the consent of the majority of the Directors in office:

- (a) annually determining and amending the operational and financial objectives of the Company as well as determining and amending the strategy designed to achieve the objectives;
- (b) determining and amending the parameters to be applied in relation to the strategy, for example in respect of the financial ratios;
- (c) approving the entering into of material mergers, take-overs, divestments and joint ventures by any Group Company;

## PART B

The following resolutions can only be taken by the Board with the consent of the majority of the Non-Executive Directors in office:

## Related Parties

- (a) deciding to enter into a transaction in which there is a conflict of interest with any Director;
- (b) deciding to enter into a transaction between the Company and individuals or legal entities who hold at least 10% of the shares in the Company;
- (c) approving the grant of a personal loan, guarantees or similar instrument by a Group Company to a Director which loan, guarantee or similar instrument may in any event only be granted as part of the Company's usual business operations; and

# Profits

- (d) determining which part of the profits, the positive balance on the profit and loss account, is added to the reserves;
- (e) proposing to make distributions from the Company's distributable reserves;
- (f) resolving to distribute an interim dividend;
- (g) proposing to make a dividend payment on Shares wholly or partly in Shares;

#### Governance

- (h) the granting of a title to an Executive Director;
- (i) issuing Shares or granting rights to subscribe for Shares, as well as limiting or excluding the pre-emption rights;



- proposing to issue Shares, to designate another corporate body authorized to issue shares or grant rights to subscribe for Shares, as well as to proposing to limit or exclude the preemption rights;
- (k) acquiring or alienating Shares or depositary receipts thereof;
- temporarily entrusting duties and powers of an Executive Director to another Director, a former Director or another person if the seat of such Executive Directors is vacant or one or such Executive Directors is unable to perform its duties;
- (m) establishing an Executive Committee;
- (n) adopt the diversity & inclusion policy for the Executive Committee (if applicable), the senior management, and for the rest of the workforce;
- (o) dividing tasks within the Board, and establishing and amending terms of reference for each Committee;
- (p) nominating a candidate for the appointment as External Auditor to the General Meeting and recommending a replacement of the External Auditor;
- (q) appointing and dismissing the Company Secretary;
- (r) appointing and dismissing the Director Internal Audit & Risk as well as approving the audit plan;
- (s) approving the acceptance of membership of a supervisory board or a position as nonexecutive director by an Executive Director; and
- (t) amending these By-Laws.